

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held at County Hall, Glenfield on Tuesday, 17 December 2024.

## PRESENT

Mrs. D. Taylor CC (in the Chair)

Mr. R. Ashman CC Mr. L. Breckon JP CC Mr. O. O'Shea JP CC Mr. B. L. Pain CC Mr. J. Poland CC Mrs. P. Posnett MBE CC Mrs. C. M. Radford CC Mrs H. L. Richardson CC

#### Apologies

Mr. N. J. Rushton CC

In attendance (including via Teams)

Mr. N. Bannister CC, Mr. T. Parton CC and Mrs. M. Wright CC

400. Minutes of the previous meeting.

The minutes of the meeting held on 22 October 2024 were taken as read, confirmed and signed.

401. Urgent Items.

The Chairman advised that there was one urgent item for consideration, a report of the Chief Executive titled 'English Devolution White Paper'. This report was urgent due to publication of the White Paper on 16 December 2024 and to commence initial steps in response to the proposals set out in the Paper.

402. Declarations of interest.

The Chairman, Mrs Taylor CC, invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of items on the agenda for the meeting.

Mrs Taylor declared an other registrable interest in agenda item 6 (Strategic Transport Issues Associated with the Emerging Charnwood Local Plan) as a member of Charnwood Borough Council.

## 403. Provisional Medium Term Financial Strategy 2025/26 to 2028/29.

The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources setting out the proposed Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 2025/26 to 2028/29, for consultation and scrutiny. A copy of the report, marked 'Agenda Item 4', is filed with these minutes. A supplementary report was circulated separately and a copy is also filed with these minutes.

Mr Breckon CC noted that, despite the Council having a firm grip of its finances and the work undertaken to drive down costs being effective, the financial position remained very challenging and the four year proposals highlighted rapidly rising demand for services with increasing costs. Mr Breckon CC also stated that, despite being the lowest funded County Council, Leicestershire was high performing, although there was now a greater reliance on Council Tax to fund vital services. He emphasised that it was vital that there was an overhaul of local government finances to ensure that major issues were tackled rather than a focus purely on deprivation, which would disadvantage rural counties.

Mr Poland CC reiterated that the County Council had faced considerable funding pressures but funding levels had not kept pace with demand, and as such, current funding levels did not enable the Council to address the main issues it was facing. He stated that a funding reform was required to enable the County Council to deliver what was required locally.

Mr Pain CC stated that the report had indicated a provisional £56m of growth for the Children and Families department and queried whether any assessment had been undertaken of the impact on the budget of needing to find school placements for children who had been in independent schools. The Director responded that some initial work had been undertaken and there would be an expected shift from independent schools into mainstream schools if the provision became more expensive. However, it was felt that this would be gradual and the situation would continue to be monitored.

Mrs Taylor CC noted that preventative work was key and expressed concern that charities/voluntary sector organisations would be passing a cost on to the County Council. She urged as many people as possible to respond to the consultation on the MTFS proposals.

## **RESOLVED**:

- a) That the proposed Medium Term Financial Strategy, including the 2025/26 draft revenue budget and capital programme, be approved for consultation and referred to the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and the Scrutiny Commission for consideration;
- b) That the Director of Corporate Resources, following consultation with the Cabinet Lead Member for Resources, be authorised to:
  - i. Agree a response to the provisional Local Government Finance Settlement;
  - ii. Decide on the appropriate course of action with regard to the Leicester and Leicestershire Business Rates Pool in 2025/26 and, subject to agreement by all member authorities, to implement this;
- c) That each Chief Officer, in consultation with the Director of Corporate Resources and following consultation with the relevant Lead Member(s), undertake preparatory work as considered appropriate to develop the savings set out in the draft MTFS and to identify additional savings in light of the financial gap in all four years of the MTFS, to enable the Cabinet and Council to consider further those savings to be taken forward as part of the MTFS and implemented in a timely manner;
- d) That a further report be submitted to the Cabinet on 7 February 2025.

## (KEY DECISION)

#### REASONS FOR DECISION

To enable the County Council to meet its statutory requirements with respect to setting a balanced budget and Council Tax precept for 2025/26 and to provide a basis for the planning of services over the next four years.

3

To ensure that the County Council's views on the provisional Local Government Finance Settlement are made known to the Government.

To enable the County Council (alongside the pooling partners) to respond to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) in respect of the Business Rates Pool within 28 days from the draft Local Government Finance Settlement.

To enable early work to be undertaken on the development of new savings to address the worsening financial position.

To consider feedback from consultation on the draft MTFS and the views of the Overview and Scrutiny bodies and the final recommendations to be made to the County Council.

#### 404. Customer Experience Strategy - Outcome of Consultation.

The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources advising of the outcome of the consultation on the draft Customer Experience Strategy and seeking approval of the Strategy. A copy of the report, marked 'Agenda Item 5', is filed with these minutes.

Mr Breckon CC commented that the strategy would set the direction for the Council's interaction with its customers. An annual action plan would be produced and the priority areas would be presented to the Scrutiny Commission in the new year.

#### **RESOLVED**:

- a) That the outcome of consultation on the draft Customer Experience Strategy be noted;
- b) That the Customer Experience Strategy 2024-2028 be approved;
- c) That it be noted that an Action Plan will be developed to support the implementation of the Strategy.

#### REASONS FOR DECISION

To note the feedback received during the consultation exercise on the draft Strategy which has informed the final version.

The Strategy will set the direction for the Council's interaction with customers and help ensure transparency and consistency in its approach.

405. <u>Strategic Transport Planning Issues Associated with the Emerging Charnwood Local</u> <u>Plan.</u> The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport, Chief Executive and Director of Law and Governance which provided an update on the issues associated with the emerging Charnwood Local Plan, following recent correspondence from the Local Plan Inspectors and implications for the County Council as Local Highway Authority. A copy of the report, marked 'Agenda Item 6', is filed with these minutes. A supplementary report was circulated separately and a copy is also filed with these minutes.

Charnwood Borough Council had considered a report entitled 'Charnwood Local Development Scheme December 2024' at its meeting on 12 December and an update on the outcome of this meeting was presented.

Mr O'Shea CC stated that it was essential that the necessary infrastructure was in place to ensure the best outcomes for the residents and businesses of Charnwood.

Mr Ashman CC expressed disappointment that no further progress had been made and the fact that Charnwood Borough Council had failed to answer specific questions from the County Council. Members further commented that there needed to be greater collaboration to ensure the infrastructure was in place and that local residents had the reassurance that work was being undertaken.

Mrs Taylor CC reiterated her concern around the lack of recognition from Charnwood Borough Council as to the severity of the situation. A response from the Local Plan Inspectors was required in relation to the viability assessment around having a Community Infrastructure Levy in place, but it was currently uncertain as to when this would be received.

## **RESOLVED**:

- A) That the latest position in respect of the Local Plan be noted including:
  - i. The correspondence between the County Council and Charnwood Borough Council (the Borough Council) summarised in paragraph 18 of the supplementary report.
  - ii. The Borough Council's approach to the s.106 agreement in respect of planning application P/22/1224/2 and associated implications for the County Council as set out in paragraphs 32-35 of the supplementary report.
  - iii. The issue of a letter dated 29 November from the Borough Council to the Local Plan Inspectors published as EXAM 88 A on the Local Plan website, in response to their letter (EXAM 88) dated 5 November, and a further response from the Inspectors' dated 4 December 2024 published as EXAM 88 B, which are appended to the supplementary report.
  - iv. The publication of a report for consideration by the Borough Council's Cabinet on 12 December 2024, entitled 'Charnwood Local Development Scheme December 2024' and that following the Borough Council's Cabinet meeting, which is not livestreamed, draft minutes have been provided to the County Council by the Borough Council which confirm agreement to all four

5

recommendations. <u>Charnwood Borough Council Cabinet 12 December Agenda</u> and Draft Minutes

- v. The absence in the Borough Council's draft minutes of:
  - a) any reference to the Borough Council's recently changed view that EXAM 88 is a material consideration in progressing the Local Plan;
  - any recognition of the County Council's serious concerns at the approach being taken by the Borough Council in respect of the Local Plan in the run up to its Plans Committee meeting of 17 October and subsequently, in particular the long-stated concern that both the draft Local Plan strategy and planning applications recently considered by the Plans Committee do not address the cumulative transport impacts and needs to which collectively they give rise;
  - c) the estimated potential loss of up to £3.3m of highways and transport contributions, subject to viability assessments, as a result of the decisions of the Borough Council's Plans Committee of 17 October;
  - any explanation of the Borough Council's attempt to exclude the County Council from s.106 agreements, contrary to national Planning Policy Guidance on how a local planning authority should work with infrastructure providers;
  - e) any evidence to back up the Borough Council's claim made in correspondence with the County Council that a) exclusion of the upper tier authority from s.106 agreements is commonly practised in other two-tier areas, and b) the County Council had "refused to sign" s.106 agreements, which is not correct;
  - f) the County Council's request for its concerns to be put on the record at the Borough Council's Cabinet meeting, a request rejected by the Borough Council;
- vi. The potential implications for the LHA in its role as statutory consultee arising from the Local Plan process as set out in paragraphs 26 to 27 and paragraphs 29 to 39 of the supplementary report.
- vii. The publication of the new National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) on 12 December. This will have implications for all local plans in Leicestershire, not least because it will significantly increase the level of housing which local authorities have to plan for and may mean that many more local authorities without an up-to-date local plan will no longer be able to demonstrate a fiveyear housing land supply. The impacts for this Local Plan are currently being assessed.

- B) That in line with previous recommendations and delegations, the Chief Executive, the Director of Environment and Transport, and the Director of Law and Governance, following consultation with the appropriate Cabinet Lead Members, be authorised to:
  - i. Work alongside, support, and co-operate with the Borough Council as necessary, through a more appropriate governance structure than the current Infrastructure Board, to develop the further viability evidence requested by the Inspectors as speedily as possible, now the Borough Council has formally confirmed via a resolution of its Cabinet on 12 December that it is seeking to take up the option put forward by the Inspectors to progress the inclusion of a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in the Local Plan.
  - ii. In the first instance it is appropriate for County Council officers to review the viability evidence to be provided by the Borough Council's consultants, a draft of which the Borough Council has said it will provide, to discuss the evidence before it is finalised, noting the need for expediency as the Borough Council has committed to providing this information to the Inspectors in the week beginning 13 January 2025. Following the submission of evidence and the response from the Inspectors, the County Council will make proposals to the Borough Council in respect of future governance arrangements.
  - iii. Participate appropriately in the development and implementation of a CIL charging schedule in line with national guidance and seek to influence the adoption of a CIL as soon as possible, recognising the potential for work to be undertaken at risk ahead of possible further Local Plan examination sessions.
  - iv. Seek to mitigate the impacts arising from the potential further delays to adoption of the Local Plan as far as reasonably possible.
- C) That, given the continued difficulty in securing clear and consistent responses from the Borough Council on key issues, the decision of the Borough Council's Cabinet not to formally recognise the serious concerns raised by the County Council in its resolutions of 12 December, that a number of questions asked of the Borough Council still require answers, and the already protracted Local Plan process and the potential delay in adopting a Local Plan, the County Council is yet to be assured that an adopted Local Plan will provide the necessary infrastructure to support growth sustainably. Should the Borough Council fail to ensure there is a suitable mechanism to secure sufficient and timely funding through developer contributions, this will adversely impact the highways and transport provision in Charnwood which will be felt by the residents and businesses of Charnwood.

# REASONS FOR DECISION

The County Council has a duty to cooperate in the development of the Local Plan. The 'duty to cooperate' was created in the Localism Act 2011 and places a legal duty on local planning authorities, county councils in England and public bodies to engage constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis to maximise the effectiveness of local

plan preparation in the context of strategic cross boundary matters. This will continue over the extended Local Plan examination period. The County Council has proactively contacted the Borough Council in the context of this duty and received a response to letters of the Chief Executive sent on the 27 November and 3 December on 9 December, which was in turn responded to on 11 December.

7

The Borough Council has recently taken the highly unusual step of excluding the County Council from a s.106 agreement in relation to planning application P/22/1224/2. This has several potentially negative implications for the County Council as set out in paragraphs 27-33.

The Inspectors' letter (EXAM 88) sets out the latest position regarding the emerging Local Plan. The Inspectors have made clear that, in order for the Local Plan to be modified in the manner suggested by the Borough Council, further evidence is required, including viability evidence. The Borough Council has commissioned a viability study without any input from the County Council. However, following the recent exchange of correspondence referred to above, the County Council has been invited to review the viability work before it is submitted to the Inspectors. The County Council has proposed a meeting with the viability consultants once their work has been shared, although this has yet to be confirmed by the Borough Council. The Borough Council has committed to submit this evidence to the Inspectors by the week commencing 13 January 2025. Although the County Council was not consulted on this date, it will prioritise this work, given the urgent need to adopt the Local Plan and associated CIL schedule in the best interests of Charnwood residents. It would have been far better for the County Council to have been able to contribute to the development of the brief for this evidence to help make the process as efficient as possible, given the risks of delays.

The County Council believes this regrettable situation could have been avoided. In relation to the efficacy of the current Infrastructure Board, the Chief Executive advised the Borough Council in correspondence that the County Council believed it to be unproductive and "would wish to see a refresh of the governance and oversight structure, jointly agreed, so focussed and effective work can take place on providing the Inspectors with the CIL-related evidence and development. We would need to make the best use of what resources the County Council has for such work, recognising there are demands from other district Local Plans. I support my colleagues in their view the current 'Infrastructure Board' needs to be replaced with a new body with tighter terms of reference and attendance restricted to key officers. The County Council would also expect to approve the brief and associated programme of delivery for any consultants appointed to lead the viability work." The County Council's concerns with communication over the Borough Council's intentions to introduce a CIL are a matter of record. The Borough Council's response to the County Council's request, reported above, was that focus on governance would cause delay. Whilst they were prepared to consider suggestions for change, they have proceeded to reconvene the infrastructure Board and did not consult the County Council on a brief for consultants leading on the viability work.

The latest correspondence from the Inspectors, EXAM 88 B, confirms the dependence of the successful progression of the Local Plan examination on the provision of satisfactory viability evidence. It highlights that it is only when this has been reviewed by the Inspectors, and a decision made that the examination can progress, that a draft timetable would be issued, setting out the remaining stages of the examination. This has potentially significant impacts on the County Council as LHA, including potential further delays in the adoption of the Local Plan. The risks associated with delays to adoption remain as previously set out.

Following a previous report to this Cabinet, it was resolved that 'until the County Council is formally notified of the Borough Council's decision following the Inspectors' letter, and the reasons behind recommendations to its Cabinet, the County Council is unable to take any action to assist in progressing the Local Plan'. The resolution to approve revisions to the Local Development Scheme by the Borough Council's Cabinet on 12 December 2024 is significant in setting out the Borough Council's position and therefore informing the County Council's next steps.

The County Council recognises the potentially negative impacts of lack of strategic transport investment to support growth on Charnwood residents and businesses and will therefore seek to mitigate these impacts are far as practically possible, with the primary means of mitigation the expedient adoption of a CIL. These impacts include those associated with any further delays to the adoption of the Local Plan and approval of allocated sites in advance of an agreed mechanism to secure contributions to (and subsequent delivery of) strategic highways and transport measures. The County Council therefore proposes to support the Borough Council to implement a CIL schedule. The Chief Executive has reiterated this commitment, made in previous approved Cabinet recommendations to Charnwood Borough Council in correspondence dated 11 December 2024. Progress, however, will be dependent on the view of the Inspectors on the further viability evidence to be submitted by the Borough Council.

It is likely that the new NNPF will have significant implications for plan making in Leicestershire. As more information becomes available Officers will consider the implications for the Charnwood Local Plan and act accordingly.

#### 406. Draft Local Nature Recovery Strategy.

The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport which presented the draft Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) for Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland and sought approval for an eight week public consultation on the draft LNRS. A copy of the report, marked 'Agenda Item 7', is filed with these minutes.

The Director of Environment and Transport confirmed that the consultation would run from 6 January – 28 February 2025, following which a report would be presented to the Cabinet outlining any feedback.

Mr Pain CC expressed his thanks to the team for the work undertaken on the draft LNRS Strategy to ensure that it was passed by Natural England without a 'formal pause' to go out to public consultation. Members agreed that the impact of the Strategy would be beneficial for the nature and health of local residents.

## **RESOLVED**:

- a) That the draft Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LRNS) be approved for public consultation;
- b) That a further report will be considered by the Cabinet in June 2025, detailing the outcome of the consultation, and seeking approval of the final LNRS for publication.

(KEY DECISION)

REASONS FOR DECISION

LNRSs are a new statutory duty placed on local government in England, as part of the Environment Act 2021. The Act required local authorities to work together to develop LNRSs across 48 areas in England.

9

Under the Environment Act 2021, the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs appointed Leicestershire County Council the 'responsible authority' for the development of a LNRS for Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland.

The development of the draft LNRS fulfils part of the duty, as does the need to go out to public consultation.

## 407. Biodiversity Duty Plan.

The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport presenting the new Biodiversity Duty Plan for approval and publication. A copy of the report, marked 'Agenda Item 8', is filed with these minutes.

Mr Pain CC reiterated the fact that the previous Government had introduced the strengthened biodiversity duty as part of the Environment Act 2021; the proposed Biodiversity Duty Plan fulfilled the requirement.

## **RESOLVED**:

- a) That the Biodiversity Duty Plan be approved;
- b) That the Director of Environment and Transport be authorised to approve minor amendments to the Biodiversity Duty Plan as part of the annual refresh of the Plan.

## **REASON FOR DECISION**

As part of the Environment Act 2021, the Government introduced the 'strengthened biodiversity duty'. The Act requires public authorities, which operate in England, to consider what they can do to 'conserve and enhance' biodiversity in England, and to produce a Biodiversity Duty Plan that sets out what they will do to meet the duty. The Biodiversity Duty Plan, appended to the report, fulfils this requirement.

#### 408. Future Approach to Residual Waste Management Post 2031.

The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport seeking approval of the proposed future approach to managing residual waste from 2031 onwards through a low investment merchanting approach, following consultancy work completed by Frith Resource Management. A copy of the report, marked 'Agenda Item 9', is filed with these minutes.

Members congratulated officers on the work undertaken to ensure an efficient waste management service was maintained for Leicestershire residents.

## RESOLVED:

a) That the outcome of the consultancy work completed by Frith Resource Management be noted;

- b) That the adoption of a low investment merchanting approach for the future management of residual waste, either through the continuation of the current arrangements (option F) or through re-merchanting (option A) be approved;
- c) That the Director of Environment and Transport be authorised to procure and/or modify arrangements as appropriate to secure capacity for residual waste treatment/disposal for the period 2031 onwards.

#### **REASONS FOR DECISION**

The consultancy work includes significant detailed work in the area of residual waste management both specific to the Council and the wider industry. The conclusions provided take into account technology, legislation and market forces and as such provide robust outputs and rationale based on a detailed options appraisal and a bespoke cost model.

The recommendations of the consultancy work carried out by FRM are to adopt a low investment merchanting approach. The synopsis of the report produced by FRM, appended to the report, contains further detail on the rationale within the results and conclusion.

The delegation to the Director of Environment and Transport to procure or modify waste treatment/disposal contracts enables flexibility to adapt to changes in the market and swift engagement with suppliers where required. This will support an optimal competitive tendering process and contractor engagement to provide best value for the Council.

#### 409. Air Quality and Health Partnership Action Plan 2024-2028.

The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Public Health which presented the Council's ongoing work with partners to improve health inequality linked to air quality across the County and sought approval for the Leicestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership Action Plan for 2024-2028. A copy of the report, marked 'Agenda Item 10', is filed with these minutes.

The Leicestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership Action Plan was overseen by the Partnership and provided a summary of joint, evidence-based work opportunities, identified action leads and an opportunity to monitor progress against the actions.

Mrs Richardson CC repeated the importance of improving air quality for the health of residents. The Action Plan had been developed based on a number of key documents and was evidence based. Mrs Richardson CC noted that it was positive to have identified leads to ensure that actions were undertaken and that work was targeted in specific areas. Members also welcomed the work with other organisations to implement the actions.

The Director of Public Health gave assurance that the Action Plan would be reviewed on a regular basis and updates would be presented as appropriate.

## RESOLVED:

a) That the Council's continued work with partners to improve health inequality linked to air quality across the County be noted;

b) That the Leicestershire Air Quality and Health Action Plan 2024-2028 be approved.

11

## REASONS FOR DECISION

Air pollution has a significant impact on public health and wellbeing and poor air quality is the largest environmental risk to public health in the UK. The Director of Public Health has a statutory duty under the Health and Social Care Act to ensure that plans are in place to protect the health of the local population.

Within Leicestershire, lower tier local authorities (district councils) have the statutory responsibility to manage local air quality. This includes a requirement to regularly conduct air quality monitoring to ensure that it meets the required standards for certain pollutants. The new Action Plan will enable, facilitate and monitor collective action in the area of air quality and health across the County Council, district councils and NHS partners.

## 410. Draft Adults and Communities Department Strategy 2025-2029.

The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities which sought approval to consult on the draft Adults and Communities Strategy 2025-2029. A copy of the report, marked 'Agenda Item 11', is filed with these minutes.

The Director confirmed that the commencement of the consultation would be brought forward to January 2025 to avoid the pre-election period.

Mrs Radford CC welcomed the report and emphasised the importance of responding to the consultation.

## **RESOLVED**:

- a) That the draft Adults and Communities Strategy 2025-2029, attached as Appendix A to the report, be approved for consultation;
- b) That a further report be submitted to the Cabinet in the summer of 2025 presenting the outcome of the consultation and the final Strategy for approval.

## (KEY DECISION)

## **REASON FOR DECISION**

The Strategy provides a framework for policy, process and ways of working for the Adults and Communities Department and supports the delivery of the County Council's statutory duties, national policy and statutory guidance.

411. Items referred from Overview and Scrutiny.

There were no items referred from the Overview and Scrutiny bodies.

## 412. English Devolution White Paper.

The Cabinet considered an urgent report of the Chief Executive advising of the implications of the English Devolution White Paper, published on 16 December 2024. Agreement was sought for the Chief Executive to take initial steps in response to the

14 12

proposals set out in the White Paper. This report was urgent due to the requirement to enable initial engagement and for work to commence in response to the White Paper. A copy of the report, marked 'Agenda Item 13', is filed with these minutes.

RESOLVED:

- a) That the Chief Executive in consultation with the Director of Corporate Resources and Director of Law and Governance, and following consultation with the Acting Leader of the Council, be authorised to undertake such work as is considered necessary in response to the White Paper and subsequent approach from Government;
- b) That a further report be made to the Cabinet in February 2025 regarding the implications of the English Devolution White Paper.

## REASONS FOR DECISION

To enable the initial engagement and work to commence in response to the White Paper. The Cabinet will meet again on 7 February 2025.

Further detailed consideration will need to be given to the content of the White Paper.

2.00 - 3.11 pm 17 December 2024 CHAIRMAN